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Key ICE Group stats 2010

UK regional events

39,381  
people attended events  
organised by our UK 
regional teams

TTL profit

£1.931m 
in 2010 

New ICE website  

45%
increase in daily visitors  
since launch of new site

 

Pre-19 activities 

37,210
people reached through 
our UK regional
activities

ICE national events 

9,966   
delegates, compared   
to 8,215 in 2009

ICE Library dealt with

10%
increase in  
email enquiries       
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Key ICE Group stats 2010

Influencing policy

47 
no. of times ‘infrastructure’ 
mentioned in main party 
manifestos (5 in 2005)

Membership 

7,907   
potential membership 
candidates contacted by 
our UK regional teams

Career Appraisals 

16%
increase  
in applications

Technicians 

60%
increase in applications   
for Technician   
Professional Review 

Fellowship 

20% 
increase
in applications 

Professional Review  

6%
increase 
in applications
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Our members have been deeply 
affected by another very tough 
year for the industry. In the face of 
declining income the Institution has 
reviewed its cost base whilst striving 
to maintain frontline services and 
deliver value for members.
 
My predecessor President Paul Jowitt 
made invaluable contributions through 
his leadership and unfl inching drive and I 
would like to thank him for this. He made 
great strides in international development 
work, leading his 12 President’s 
Apprentices in the development and 
launch of ‘An Engineer’s Toolkit for a 
Developing World’.

ICE had signifi cant infl uence in raising 
awareness of the importance of 
infrastructure and arguing for continued 
investment in major infrastructure 
during these austere times. ICE’s public 
voice work led to our calls appearing 
in all main party manifestos and the 
recommendations of our State of the 
Nation Infrastructure 2010 linked 
directly to the extensive protection 
of infrastructure investment in the 
Comprehensive Spending Review. We saw 
the establishment of Infrastructure UK 
within the Treasury and the launch of the 
UK’s fi rst National Infrastructure Plan.   

Since taking offi ce in November 2010 
I have been focused on promoting the 
following themes:

 Value of infrastructure
 Value for money
 Value for carbon

Under the banner of delivering value, I am 
also promoting the value of engineers, the 
value of the Institution and our collective 
value to society. One way I hope to deliver 
value to society is by encouraging and 
inspiring the engineers of tomorrow 
through the Create Sport Challenge. 
School teams are being encouraged to 
create a design for a community sports 
venue and build a model of it. I look 
forward to seeing the fi nalists at One 
Great George Street at a celebration day 
in June 2011.

Working with Infrastructure UK, on the 
study into infrastructure construction costs, 
I have seen for myself how ICE is having 
real impact on policy and investment 
decisions for the good of society.

I am committed to ensuring greater 
communication to our members, and to 
better engagement with our members. 
Without members’ knowledge, expertise 
and participation ICE cannot move forward.

Peter Hansford
ICE President

A central element in our 
ongoing achievement 
was the launch of a 
new ICE website, which 
now provides greater 
accessibility to membership 
information, to knowledge 
sources and to communities 
of interest. The new site 
has led to a 45% increase 
in visitors. 

The ICE Group continued to manage 
its fi nances in the face of falling 
income from subscriptions and 
commercial activity due to the 
continued economic downturn.

Through a continued drive to ensure a 
balanced budget by reducing costs the 
ICE Group achieved a surplus of £537k in 
2010. Better than expected returns from 
TTL of £1.931 million (exceeding the target 
of £1.5 million) contributed signifi cantly. 
ICE cut operating costs by £700k in 2010 
and over the past three years ICE has 
reduced its operating cost base by 
£1.9 million. This has been achieved 
through effi ciency improvements, 
greater use of digitisation and online 
services, and headcount reviews.

These reductions have been achieved 
without reducing the core services of 
the Institution – to support and grow 
professional membership, to transfer civil 
engineering knowledge and to raise the 
profi le of civil engineering.

A central element in our ongoing 
achievement was the launch of a new 
ICE website, which now provides greater 
accessibility to membership information, 
to knowledge sources and to communities 
of interest. The new site has led to a 45% 
increase in visitors.

We take professional qualifi cation and 
personal development very seriously and in 
2010 we laid the foundations for assessing 
Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) plans. In 2011 we will phase in a 
requirement for professionally qualifi ed 
members to submit their records via 
random sampling.

We have also shared the challenges our 
members are experiencing in the current 
economic climate. After a promising 
start to the year we were unable to 
achieve some ambitious targets set for 
Fellowship applications and Professional 
Review applications for MICE from the 

UK. Despite the diffi cult climate, we 
were pleased to see Professional Review 
applications increase overall by 6%, 
Fellowship applications increase by 20% 
and applications for Technician Professional 
Review increase by 60% in 2010. We also 
introduced an ICE Advanced Technical 
Apprenticeship providing a route for school 
leavers to become Technician Members.  
 
We have continued to raise the profi le of 
civil engineering with a marked increase 
in the quality of public affairs and media 
coverage, often being quoted in national 
media alongside bodies such as CBI and 
IoD on strategic infrastructure matters. 

ICE hosted a number of high-level 
debates on infrastructure policy issues 
– with industry and politicians coming 
together to discuss planning, funding and 
costs of delivery. A particular highlight 
was the Infrastructure Funding Summit in 
February 2010 which brought together 
three senior frontbench politicians from 
the main political parties, including Rt Hon 
Vincent Cable MP and Mark Hoban MP 
who were to become Ministers after the 
General Election. 

2011 will be a year of continuing effi ciency 
drives and integration to ensure effective 
delivery of our core services. We aim to 
bring together many of ICE and TTL’s 
London-based employees in our 8 Storey’s 
Gate building. This is currently undergoing 
refurbishment and is on track to be ready 
by early 2012. As I will retire in December 
2011, I will ensure a smooth transition 
for my successor to build on ICE’s past 
achievements and meet the challenges 
of the future.

Tom Foulkes
ICE Director General

President’s foreword

Working with Infrastructure 
UK...I have seen for myself 
how ICE is having real 
impact on policy and 
investment decisions for 
the good of society.

"

"

Peter Hansford
ICE President

> Value of infrastructure

> Value for money

> Value for carbon

Director General’s foreword 

"

"

Tom Foulkes
ICE Director General 

> Move to 8 Storey’s Gate
> Ongoing effi ciency drives 
 and integration to ensure 
 effective delivery of our 
 core services

President’s foreword Director General’s foreword
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  Where the money comes from  £’000

01 Donations  1,039 

02 Subscriptions  11,417 

03 Fees etc  2,572 

 04 Trading activities and investment income 15,151 

  Total   30,179   

  

Where the money is spent  £’000

01 Engineering, policy and innovation  6,517 

02 Qualifi cation and membership  6,582 

03 Public voice and member communication  3,365 

04 Trading activities  12,831 

05 Governance and investment costs 347 

  Total    29,642  
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Total members (by location)

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000 80,000 90,000

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

UK Americas Asia Pacifi c Europe Middle East & Africa

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

01 Fellow 5,625 5,523 5,436 5,347 5,266

02 Member 40,677 40,426 40,451 40,216 39,923

03 Graduate 15,677 15,821 16,941 17,485 16,598

04 Student 13,771 14,546 16,551 18,220 18,457

05 Technician 496 489 507 525 569

06 Associate 2,521 2,362 2,239 2,106 1,980

07 Other 664 1,286 1,191 1,088 1,013

Total 79,432 80,453 83,316 84,987 83,806

Membership by grade

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

CPRP 2 8 7 9 8

CPR 928 966 975 1,025 1,053

MPR 43 62 87 116 126

TPR 9 20 47 50 82

AMICE 0 1 1 1 1

CEnv 0 2 0 3 2

TRR 24 34 48 50 51

Total 982 1059 1133 1208 1275

  

Applications for review by type

09

2010 Stats

83,806
Total members

17,568
International

569
Technicians

5,266
Fellows

0966,238
United Kingdom

CRPR

8
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW CPR

1,053
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

MPR

126
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW TPR

82
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

AMICE

1
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW CEnv

2
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

TRR

51
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

INDIA

55
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

OTHER INTERNATIONAL

40
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

HONG KONG

273
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

UNITED KINGDOM

907
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

2010 Total
83,806
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A global organisation
The Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) is a 
global membership organisation that exists 
to promote and advance civil engineering 
around the world.

ICE was founded in 1818 by three young 
civil engineers, who held the first meeting 
at the Kendal Coffee House in Fleet Street. 
In 1820 Thomas Telford became the first 
President of ICE and helped the Institution 
gain its Royal Charter in 1828.

Today we are a global organisation with 
over 83,000 members in 148 countries. 
We are proud to represent some of the 
very best civil engineers in the profession.

Royal Charter
We are governed by a Royal Charter and 
are a registered charity in England, Wales 
and Scotland.

As defined by our charter, our charitable 
object – to foster and promote the  
art and science of civil engineering –  
is a purpose which is for the benefit of 
society as a whole.     

Our core values
Underpinning the work of ICE and  
our members are our core values:

 Trust and honesty
 Ethical behaviour and integrity
 High standards
 Quality and professionalism

Our vision
To place engineers at the heart  
of society, delivering sustainable  
development through knowledge,  
skills and professional expertise.

Core purpose
 To develop and qualify professionals  

 engaged in civil engineering
 To exchange knowledge and best  

 practice for the creation of a sustainable  
 natural and built environment

 To promote our contribution  
 to society worldwide

About ICE

About IC
E
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THOMAS TELFORD LTD

Achieve a surplus on 
commercial operations of 
at least £1.5 million

ICE BUDGET

Achieve a small operating 
surplus of £50k

FUTURE FUNDING

Develop funding sources 
including grants, donations, 
partnership and sponsorship 
opportunities

EMPLOYER ENGAGEMENT

Promote the value of 
membership and the value of 
involvement with ICE activity 
to civil engineering employers

NEW PREMISES

Refurbish 8 Storey’s Gate ready 
for ICE and TTL colleagues to 
move in early 2012

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Complete a review of ICE’s 
governance to ensure it is fi t for 
purpose to meet the challenges 
that lie ahead in continuing to 
deliver the Institution’s strategy 
for the next fi ve years

8 STOREYS GATE CO-LOCATION

Capitalise on ICE and TTL 
co-location to 8SG by meeting 
the needs of members and 
customers via continual 
improvement in service, 
productivity and effi ciency

APPOINT A NEW DG&S

Ensure a smooth transition 
for Tom Foulkes’s successor 
to the DG&S role

PUBLIC VOICE

Continue to infl uence UK 
government and devolved 
administrations on infrastructure 
planning, funding and resilience

KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER

Increase member engagement 
with knowledge activities 
by 10%, and improve the 
effectiveness of expert panels 
in transferring knowledge 
across all strands, through 
digital media 
 

DEVELOPING MEMBERSHIP 

Focus on acquiring new 
members, retaining existing 
members, and re-acquiring 
lapsed members whilst 
maintaining high standards 
of professionalism 



About ICE

About ICE

About IC
E
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Our members have been deeply 
affected by another very tough 
year for the industry. In the face of 
declining income the Institution has 
reviewed its cost base whilst striving 
to maintain frontline services and 
deliver value for members.
 
My predecessor President Paul Jowitt 
made invaluable contributions through 
his leadership and unflinching drive and I 
would like to thank him for this. He made 
great strides in international development 
work, leading his 12 President’s 
Apprentices in the development and 
launch of ‘An Engineer’s Toolkit for a 
Developing World’.

ICE had significant influence in raising 
awareness of the importance of 
infrastructure and arguing for continued 
investment in major infrastructure 
during these austere times. ICE’s public 
voice work led to our calls appearing 
in all main party manifestos and the 
recommendations of our State of the 
Nation Infrastructure 2010 linked 
directly to the extensive protection 
of infrastructure investment in the 
Comprehensive Spending Review. We saw 
the establishment of Infrastructure UK 
within the Treasury and the launch of the 
UK’s first National Infrastructure Plan.   

Since taking office in November 2010 
I have been focused on promoting the 
following themes:

 Value of infrastructure
 Value for money
 Value for carbon

Under the banner of delivering value, I am 
also promoting the value of engineers, the 
value of the Institution and our collective 
value to society. One way I hope to deliver 
value to society is by encouraging and 
inspiring the engineers of tomorrow 
through the Create Sport Challenge. 
School teams are being encouraged to 
create a design for a community sports 
venue and build a model of it. I look 
forward to seeing the finalists at One  
Great George Street at a celebration day  
in June 2011.

Working with Infrastructure UK on the 
study into infrastructure construction costs, 
I have seen for myself how ICE is having 
real impact on policy and investment 
decisions for the good of society.

I am committed to ensuring greater 
communication to our members, and to 
better engagement with our members. 
Without members’ knowledge, expertise 
and participation ICE cannot move forward.

Peter Hansford
ICE President

President’s foreword

Working with Infrastructure 
UK...I have seen for myself 
how ICE is having real 
impact on policy and 
investment decisions for  
the good of society.

"

"

Peter Hansford
ICE President

> Value of infrastructure

> Value for money

> Value for carbon

 
President’s foreword
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A central element in our 
ongoing achievement 
was the launch of a 
new ICE website, which 
now provides greater 
accessibility to membership 
information, to knowledge 
sources and to communities 
of interest. The new site 
has led to a 45% increase 
in visitors. 

The ICE Group continued to manage  
its finances in the face of falling 
income from subscriptions and 
commercial activity due to the 
continued economic downturn.

Through a continued drive to ensure a 
balanced budget by reducing costs, the 
ICE Group achieved a surplus of £537k in 
2010. Better than expected returns from 
TTL of £1.931 million (exceeding the target 
of £1.5 million) contributed significantly. 
ICE cut operating costs by £700k in 2010 
and over the past three years ICE has 
reduced its operating cost base by  
£1.9 million. This has been achieved 
through efficiency improvements,  
greater use of digitisation and online 
services, and headcount reviews.

These reductions have been achieved 
without reducing the core services of 
the Institution – to support and grow 
professional membership, to transfer civil 
engineering knowledge and to raise the 
profile of civil engineering.

A central element in our ongoing 
achievement was the launch of a new 
ICE website, which now provides greater 
accessibility to membership information, 
to knowledge sources and to communities 
of interest. The new site has led to a 45% 
increase in visitors.

We take professional qualification and 
personal development very seriously and in 
2010 we laid the foundations for assessing 
Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) plans. In 2011 we will phase in a 
requirement for professionally qualified 
members to submit their records via 
random sampling.

We have also shared the challenges our 
members are experiencing in the current 
economic climate. After a promising 
start to the year we were unable to 
achieve some ambitious targets set for 
Fellowship applications and Professional 
Review applications for MICE from the 

UK. Despite the difficult climate, we 
were pleased to see Professional Review 
applications increase overall by 6%, 
Fellowship applications increase by 20% 
and applications for Technician Professional 
Review increase by 60% in 2010. We also 
introduced an ICE Advanced Technical 
Apprenticeship providing a route for school 
leavers to become Technician Members.  
 
We have continued to raise the profile of 
civil engineering with a marked increase 
in the quality of public affairs and media 
coverage, often being quoted in national 
media alongside bodies such as CBI and 
IoD on strategic infrastructure matters. 

ICE hosted a number of high-level  
debates on infrastructure policy issues 
– with industry and politicians coming 
together to discuss planning, funding and 
costs of delivery. A particular highlight 
was the Infrastructure Funding Summit in 
February 2010 which brought together 
three senior frontbench politicians from 
the main political parties, including Rt Hon 
Vincent Cable MP and Mark Hoban MP 
who were to become ministers after the 
General Election. 

2011 will be a year of continuing efficiency 
drives and integration to ensure effective 
delivery of our core services. We aim to 
bring together many of ICE and TTL’s 
London-based employees in our 8 Storey’s 
Gate building. This is currently undergoing 
refurbishment and is on track to be ready 
by early 2012. As I will retire in December 
2011, I will ensure a smooth transition 
for my successor to build on ICE’s past 
achievements and meet the challenges  
of the future.

Tom Foulkes
ICE Director General

Director General’s foreword 

"

"

Tom Foulkes 
ICE Director General 

> Move to 8 Storey’s Gate
> Ongoing efficiency drives  
 and integration to ensure  
 effective delivery of our  
 core services

Director General’s foreword
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Delivering public benefit

Benefits arising from activities
The benefits arising from ICE’s charitable 
object, vision and core purpose, as set out 
on page 4, are considered widespread.

 The general public throughout the  
 world benefit from safe and well  
 designed infrastructure as a result of  
 our members’ expertise. This is  
 regulated through ICE and its  
 management of the qualification   
 process.

 The general public benefits because  
 of the generation and dissemination  
 of knowledge, which both educates the  
 public and ensures best practice is  
 available to members.

 The profession also benefits from its  
 access to ICE’s historic library archive  
 and through the extensive publishing  
 activity comprising peer-reviewed  
 technical journals, books, and much  
 other professional development material.

 Government in the UK (national,  
 devolved and local) benefits from our  
 expert evidence to public consultations  
 and from our published policy reports.

 Both public and private sector  
 employers, and through them the  
 wider economy, benefit commercially  
 from employing Institution members  
 who have a globally recognised  
 professional engineering qualification.

 Young people can realise their potential  
 as civil engineers from our efforts  
 to raise interest in science, maths and  
 technology in schools and colleges and  
 to encourage and support the young  
 civil engineers of tomorrow.

 Clients benefit from receiving high  
 quality civil engineering services.

 Members themselves benefit from  
 having a highly respected qualification  
 that is recognised around the world,  
 and also from ongoing career support  
 from the Institution.

Details of these and other activities carried 
out during the year are described more 
fully throughout this report.

Detriment or harm
Many of the infrastructure activities in 
which our members are engaged involve, 
of necessity, the evaluation of public good 
against the risk, cost or other impact of 
alternative options. The Institution through 
its activities promotes best practice and the 
rigorous assessment of sustainability and 
health and safety considerations. These 
activities all seek to reduce any detriment 
involved in activities managed or designed 
by our members. The Institution’s own 
activities as a professional body are not 
considered to generate any detriment  
or harm.

Membership benefits
The Institution as a membership 
organisation has members rather 
than beneficiaries. Members’ annual 
subscriptions form a significant part of our 
income, which is used to fund the activities 
for public benefit. Members themselves 
receive benefits through the dissemination 
of knowledge and best practice, and from 
the esteem and recognition resulting 
from their membership of a profession 
with high standards both of entry and for 
continuing membership. However without 
its members the Institution could not  
continue to pursue its charitable purpose.

Membership is open to anyone who 
can meet our professional standards 
and any financial barriers to entry are 
relatively small. Student membership is 
free and through the Institution’s QUEST 
Fund bursaries of up to £2k per annum 
are available to attract able candidates 
both at graduate entry level and also for 
aspiring technicians. For existing members 
a concessionary rate of £56 is available 
for those taking a career break, in a 
redundancy situation or on low income  
or retired. The Institution also refers 
members to its Benevolent Fund, a 
separate charity for supporting members 
and their families in need. The fund can, 
when appropriate, ensure all membership 
fees are paid for beneficiaries.

Charity Commission Guidance
The Council confirms it has complied with 
the duty in Section 4 of the Charities Act 
2006 to consider and has due regard to 
the guidance on public benefit published 
by the Charity Commission.

Delivering public benefit

Public 
benefit
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Delivering public benefit

Public 
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ICE review of 2010

2010 objectives
ICE review of 2010
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THOMAS TELFORD LIMITED (TTL)

Achieve a Thomas Telford 
surplus of at least £1.5 million 
TTL exceeded the objective and achieved 
a surplus of £1.931m through cost-
control measures across all divisions.

ICE BUDGET

Achieve a balanced budget for 
ICE, despite reduced revenues 
The ICE Group achieved a surplus of 
£537k in 2010. Better than expected 
returns from TTL and the continued  
drive to reduce costs helped us to  
more than match shortfalls in  
budgeted subscription income. 

ICE WEBSITE

Launch the new  
ICE website in June 2010 
ICE’s new website launched as planned 
in June 2010 and offers a cleaner, more 
accessible site with new communities of 
interest. Since its launch, we have seen 
greatly increased visitor numbers to the 
new website (Figure 1 and Figure 2).
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Figure 1 ICE’s website total monthly visits and unique visitors
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Unique visitors

  * Pre-launch monthly stats, based on three-month average taken from April 2010 – June 2010
** Post-launch average based on stats for July 2010 – December 2010



ICE review of 2010

2010 objectives
ICE review of 2010

ICE Annual Report 2010  11  

MEMBER DATABASE

Establish a database of  
active members to more  
easily understand and  
harness their skills
ICE’s membership database (MEMSYS) 
already recorded the majority of member 
activity including committee membership, 
event attendance, professional reviewers, 
SCEs, SLO’s as well as national and 
regional contacts. We developed MEMSYS 
and other associated MIS platforms to 
accommodate several new categories 
of information: expert/witness, financial 
expert, media skills. The challenge for 
2011 will be to build on the technical 
platform we now have in place to  
support this information.

MEMBER APPLICATIONS

Achieve a 6% increase in 
the number of MICE (CEng 
and IEng) professional review 
applications in the UK 
UK applications for MICE (CEng and IEng) 
remained relatively static, falling by just 
under 1% in 2010. We share the broader 
challenges faced by our industry in the 
tough economic climate and this has had 
an impact on the number of applications 
we received. However, the broader picture 
was more positive. TMICE applications 
increased by 60% in the UK and overall 
applications for professional review 
(including outside the UK) were up 6%.

POLICY POSITIONS

Promote and reinforce our 
public policy positions on 
infrastructure planning,  
funding and resilience  
In 2010 ICE continued to promote policy 
positions to all political parties, raising 
the profile of infrastructure in all party 
manifestos and securing continued 
investment in transport and energy in 
the Comprehensive Spending Review. 
We promoted positions on infrastructure 
planning, funding, energy, flooding 
and aviation, and our ‘State of the 
Nation: Infrastructure 2010’ became the 
background to government policy-making 
in the second half of the year.

Figure 2 ICE’s website total visits per day
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FELLOWS (FICE) APPLICATIONS

Receive 200  
applications for FICE 
In 2010 ICE processed 125 new 
applications for Fellowship which  
was a 20% increase on 2009. Within  
the year a total of 135 applications  
were approved which included 10  
re-submissions from 2009. 

STUDENT ENROLMENTS

Achieve a 4% increase  
in the percentage of UK  
student members enrolled  
on JBM courses 
Data was not available to be able to 
measure this for the 2009-10 academic 
year. However, through working with 
JBM accredited universities, we have now 
established a baseline – 54% of students 
enrolled on JBM accredited courses are 
ICE student members. This figure can be 
tracked for future academic years. Overall, 
the number of ICE student members 
increased by just under 2% for the 
academic year 2009-10 compared  
to the previous year. 

NEW PREMISES

Finalise plans for the 
redevelopment of 8 Storey’s 
Gate and commence building 
work by the end of 2010 
ICE Council approved plans to refurbish 
8 Storey’s Gate in 2010. With planning 
permission granted and vacant possession 
secured the refurbishment work has  
now begun.

We are focusing on ensuring a smooth 
transition for colleagues from their current 
locations to 8 Storey’s Gate. We will 
capitalise on this co-location to develop 
new and more effective ways of working.
 
Greater collaboration, enhanced 
productivity and a culture of innovation are 
key benefits we expect to see as a result of 
the building’s design and through bringing 
ICE and TTL colleagues together.  

Improved environmental practices are 
integral to the project in terms of the build 
and ways of working. We aim to see our 
efforts validated by achieving a BREEAM 
rating of ‘excellent’.



ICE review of 2010

2010 objectives
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JOB GRADING

Implement a new job grading 
structure for ICE Group 
employees with associated 
salaries and benefits 
A review of employees’ salaries and 
benefits laid the foundations for more 
congruous people practices across the  
ICE Group. 

As part of the review we introduced a new 
job family structure. Using the reputable 
HayGroup job evaluation methodology 
roles were allocated into one of five job 
families. This approach was designed to; 
improve transparency around salaries 
and benefits, enable a consistent way 
of understanding roles across the group 
which could facilitate internal transfer  
and progression.

As part of the review we benchmarked 
salaries and benefits against other 
appropriate organisations and more 
effectively utilised our budget. One 
outcome of this was the introduction of 
a new Group Personal Pension scheme 
with face to face advice from a qualified 
financial advisor. The new scheme 
has helped us to reduce the cost of 
pensions by around £100k per annum. 
An additional benefit is that 94% of our 
scheme members said they now have a 
greater knowledge about their pension. 

FUTURE FUNDING

Develop a strategic plan  
for additional sources  
of funding for ICE
Proposals for ‘Alternative Sources of 
Funding’ were produced. Many of  
ICE’s events and public voice activity  
in 2010, such as attendance at the party 
conferences, were funded by sponsorship. 
Plans are now underway to recruit a 
Fundraising Manager and to build  
further sponsorship partnerships in  
2011 and beyond.

MEMBER SATISFACTION SURVEY

Implement an improvement 
plan based on the results of the 
Member Satisfaction Survey
Feedback from the Member Satisfaction 
Survey was received in April 2010 and 
influenced budget planning for Q3 and 
Q4, whilst looking ahead to 2011. The 
organisation has worked hard to increase 
public voice and report back on successes 
in this area, for example improving the 
quarterly media coverage reports and 
publishing them on the ICE website. 

Members indicated in the survey their desire 
for ICE to promote civil engineering to the 
pre-19s market so this work has continued, 
with ICE also committing in 2011 to 
continue participation in Engineering UK’s 
Big Bang. The technical and organisational 
challenges of reducing the volume of emails 
and member communications were not fully 
met but the lengthy process of streamlining 
communications and putting alternative 
technical systems in place began in earnest.
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THOMAS TELFORD LTD

Achieve a surplus on  
commercial operations of  
at least £1.5 million

ICE BUDGET

Achieve a small operating  
surplus of £50k 

FUTURE FUNDING

Develop funding sources  
including grants, donations, 
partnership and sponsorship 
opportunities

EMPLOYER ENGAGEMENT

Promote the value of  
membership and the value of 
involvement with ICE activity  
to civil engineering employers 

NEW PREMISES

Refurbish 8 Storey’s Gate ready 
for ICE and TTL colleagues to 
move in early 2012 

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Complete a review of ICE’s 
governance to ensure it is fit for 
purpose to meet the challenges 
that lie ahead in continuing to 
deliver the Institution’s strategy 
for the next five years 

8 STOREY’S GATE CO-LOCATION

Capitalise on ICE and TTL  
co-location to 8SG by meeting 
the needs of members and  
customers via continual  
improvement in service,  
productivity and efficiency

APPOINT A NEW DG&S

Ensure a smooth transition  
for Tom Foulkes’s successor  
to the DG&S role

PUBLIC VOICE

Continue to influence UK  
government and devolved  
administrations on infrastructure 
planning, funding and resilience 

KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER

Increase member engagement 
with knowledge activities  
by 10%, and improve the  
effectiveness of expert panels  
in transferring knowledge 
across all strands, through  
digital media 
 

DEVELOPING MEMBERSHIP  

Focus on acquiring new  
members, retaining existing 
members, and re-acquiring 
lapsed members whilst  
maintaining high standards  
of professionalism 
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ICE North West
Big Bang boost to Pre-19s contact

ICE North West saw a more than 
five-fold increase in Pre-19 contact  
in 2010 due to the UK Young  
Scientists & Engineers Fair ‘The Big 
Bang’ coming to Manchester. We  
aim to capitalise on the positive  
energy generated as we engage  
more members as Science and  
Engineering Ambassadors. We also 
partnered with ICE NE in Cumbria, 
where over three days using a  
‘Bridges to Schools’ kit, we  
engaged with 10 local schools 
(over 120 children).

ICE Northern Ireland
Public voice

ICE Northern Ireland’s status as the 
independent voice of infrastructure 
has been furthered and strengthened 
in 2010/2011 with the ‘Time for  
Debate’ series of discussions.  
Conducted under the Chatham  
House Rule, the discussions afforded 
an opportunity for prominent regional 
decision-makers and senior ICE  
members to discuss infrastructure 
issues in a frank and open manner. 
These discussions came at a crucial 
time for Northern Ireland with the 
May 2011 Assembly election and 
spending cuts on the horizon.

ICE East of England
Membership development

The number of potential membership 
candidates having quality contact 
with our Membership Development 
Officers increased from 187 in 2009 
to 598 in 2010. The introduction of 
more seminars and workshops over 
the year has helped us to meet more 
Graduate members and Trainees.  
We have also been able to use  
these as opportunities to encourage 
non-members to consider joining  
our profession.

ICE East Midlands 
Active members

ICE’s East Midlands region recruited 
46 new active members in 2010, an 
increase of 15%, demonstrating our 
team’s commitment to improving  
engagement with our members. 
Many of these were recruited at a 
workshop for schools ambassadors 
held in September. The event was 
a forum for experienced, new and 
prospective ambassadors to celebrate, 
learn and exchange ideas. Over 75 
existing and prospective ICE schools 
volunteers attended the workshop.
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ICE Scotland
Membership (Pre-19s)

ICE Scotland has increased  
its efforts across Scotland on  
Pre-19 activity. We ran three major  
programmes: Bridges to Schools for 
late primary/early secondary school 
students; the Rapid Response  
Engineering Challenge for Year 2  
pupils and The Westpoint Bridge  
Design Competition. As a result of 
these and other activities, Pre-19s  
contact reached a record level of 
9,386 in 2010. 

ICE South East England
Pre-19s

Pre-19s contact increased from  
1,766 students in 2009 to 4,977 in 
2010. This followed three years’  
work to recruit ICE ambassadors,  
offer outreach activities and partner 
with STEMNET and Education  
Business Partnerships. Pre-19 events  
in 2010 included ‘Teen-Tech’ in  
Reading and ‘Engineering Your 
Future’ days for sixth-form students. 
We also launched ‘Civil Engineering in 
Your Town’, a new schools resource to 
help our ambassadors engage  
with younger children.

ICE London
Public voice and knowledge transfer

A record number of projects entered 
the ICE London Civil Engineering 
Awards 2010, which were attended 
by 300 industry leaders and presented 
by BBC London newsreader Alice 
Bhandhukravi. Other event highlights 
included the ICE London launch of 
‘State of the Nation: Infrastructure 
2010’ at City Hall with Deputy  
Mayor Richard Barnes AM and a  
networking event unveiling the  
‘Anatomy of Civil Engineering’. 
Attendance at our events in 2010 
increased by 33%.

ICE North East
Knowledge transfer and public voice

In 2010 ICE North East held 57 
learned society events, a 40%  
increase, attracting over 3,439  
attendees. Key lectures included  
‘London 2012 Olympic Legacy’  
and ‘New Tyne Crossing’ and a very  
successful high profile lunchtime 
seminar: ‘The Impact of the  
Comprehensive Spending Review – 
what it means to the North East’.
ICE North East also achieved  
valuable media coverage in 2010, 
worth £118,000.
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Middle East and Africa
Middle East and Africa Convention

Around 100 delegates attended the 
Middle East and Africa Convention  
in Cape Town: ‘Accelerating  
Infrastructure Delivery – Improving  
the Quality of Life.’

Asia Pacific
Membership

The number of ICE members in  
Hong Kong increased by over 4%  
to 4,778 members (December 2010). 
3,456 participants attended events  
organised by our Hong Kong  
Association, an increase of nearly 
17% on the previous year.

ICE Wales
Media coverage and event attendance

Print media coverage in Wales more 
than doubled to 123 references 
in 2010 and we also received a 
significant increase in broadcast 
coverage. By the end of the year ICE 
Wales Cymru was established as the 
voice of infrastructure in Wales with 
journalists frequently approaching 
us for comment on key strategic 
issues or in response to our proactive 
media releases. Our meetings and 
lectures were another highlight with 
attendance increasing from 3,953 
delegates in 2009 to 4,825 in 2010.

ICE South West
Knowledge transfer

ICE South West held over 150  
meetings and lectures in 2010,  
largely facilitated by our 11 City  
Clubs (including a new Salisbury club) 
and the South West Graduates & 
Students Committee. Our conference 
programme, implemented in 2010 
with nine one-day conferences,  
resulted in an attendance of 422 
delegates accumulating 2,532  
CPD hours.
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Americas
Americas Convention

‘Engineers at the Heart of Society’, 
the ICE Americas Convention held in 
Vancouver, was attended by around 
100 delegates.

Europe
ECCE 25th anniversary

ICE hosted the 25th anniversary  
celebration and General Assembly  
of the European Council of Civil  
Engineers at One Great George  
Street in London. 75 delegates  
representing the national civil  
engineering organisations around 
Europe, as well as former Presidents 
and Secretary Generals of ECCE  
were in attendance.

ICE West Midlands
Membership

ICE’s West Midlands team interviewed 
and advised 600 individuals on  
their progress and development  
towards professional qualification 
with ICE. We also implemented a 
scheme with Coventry University  
to develop a professional  
development module to allow  
aspiring Technicians to gain EngTech 
TMICE whilst studying for their HNC. 
The President visited Coventry to 
speak to young Technicians and their 
employers to discuss the scheme.

ICE Yorkshire and Humber
Public voice

ICE’s Yorkshire and Humber region 
continued its policy of organising 
some higher-profile meetings open  
to the public. One of these was given 
by John Armitt, who entertained and 
engaged with the audience when 
talking about his career as a civil  
engineer. Local schoolchildren and 
their parents were welcomed to  
this meeting.



Some of our  
key activities 
from 2010

Engaging with the  
developing world
President’s Apprentices  
scheme and toolkit for 
international development
 
Paul Jowitt, ICE President 2009-2010, 
and his 12 President’s Apprentices 
launched ‘An Engineer’s Toolkit for a 
Developing World’ in October 2010. 

This free resource was created 
following highly interactive 
workshops in London, Durban and 
Paris led by eminent industry and 
development professionals. The 
Apprentices – from the UK, Nigeria, 
Ghana, South Africa, Zimbabwe, Sri 
Lanka, China and Hong Kong – also 
visited and studied a number of 
infrastructure development projects in 
Durban, South Africa. 

The toolkit defines the key elements 
of an Engineering Project Delivery 
Plan for International Development 
and the United Nations Millennium 
Development Goals (UN MDGs). It 
is a first in the civil engineering field 
as an open-source set of materials 
and ideas to help engineers plan and 
deliver infrastructure for international 
development, poverty alleviation and 
the UN MDGs. It can be viewed at  
ice.org.uk/patoolkit

Engaging with the  
low carbon agenda
8th Brunel  
International  
Lecture series

Keith Clarke CBE, Atkins CEO, 
delivered the inaugural presentation 
of his Brunel Lecture series in London 
in May 2010. Following this, the 
lecture was presented in Vancouver, 
Canada; European Investment Bank, 
Luxembourg and the British Consulate 
General, New York, USA. 

The lecture addresses what the 
engineers of today can learn from 
the likes of Telford, Watt and Brunel 
that can help us build a low carbon 
society. Keith Clarke CBE considers the 
inspirational leadership of engineers 
of the past, the context that was 
needed for change to occur and how 
knowledge was transferred and shared 
nationally and internationally. He also 
outlines what steps the engineering 
profession should take to implement  
a low carbon society.

The lecture will continue touring 
throughout 2011, for venue 
information please visit 
ice.org.uk/brunel
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BRUNEL   
INTERNATIONAL  
LECTURES

 Beyond 
rhetoric

The Institution of Civil  
Engineers Brunel Lecture Series 

Presented by Keith Clarke,  
Chief Executive, Atkins

Delivering a low carbon society

An engineer’s 
toolkit for a 
developing world  
now is the time
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Engaging with the civil  
engineers of the future
The Big Bang:  
UK Young Scientists  
and Engineers Fair

The Big Bang, a science and 
engineering event aimed at  
Pre-19s, was held over three days  
in Manchester in March 2010.

ICE’s stand featured a bridge 
construction game with students 
putting their science and maths 
knowledge into practice to design 
and build a virtual bridge. The event 
gave us the chance to meet and 
inspire young people, to explain what 
civil engineers do and to promote the 
profession as a great career choice. 
We also met teachers, career advisors 
and parents, who play an important 
role in influencing young people.

The event attracted plenty of national 
media coverage, featuring on the 
BBC, in national newspapers and in 
regional news networks across the 
UK. Attended by over 22,000 school 
children, teachers and parents, The  
Big Bang was a huge success.

Engaging  
to innovate
Innovate to Survive:  
Engineers for a  
One Planet Future

ICE’s flagship event of 2010 
highlighted how civil engineering 
design and construction can underpin 
the challenges of a low carbon future.

39 senior level speakers came 
together to address over 200 
engineers, planners, local authority 
representatives, and climate change 
groups to examine the engineers’ role 
in addressing the issues of climate 
change. The event explored issues 
from energy to transport, to resilient 
communities and water footprinting.

A poster competition for students 
and young graduates at the event, 
sponsored by EPSRC, generated some 
really exciting entries on ‘visions for 
the future’ from universities across 
the country. Peter Hansford led 
the judging panel for this, and the 
young engineers had their posters on 
display at One Great George Street 
throughout July.

We were delighted to attract 
partnerships with The Times and 
National Geographic which helped 
attract a diverse audience and 
significantly raise the profile of  
the event.

Engaging with  
London schools
Lord Mayor’s  
Show

To celebrate an ICE Fellow,  
Alderman Michael Bear, being 
appointed as London’s Lord  
Mayor, ICE London engaged  
with five schools to take part in  
the Lord Mayor’s Show 2010.

Students were shown the vital 
role of the civil engineer within 
society as they created models of 
London’s infrastructure and iconic 
skyline at school workshops led by 
ICE ambassadors and creative arts 
organisation Kinetika. Structures 
created included the Olympic  
Park Velodrome, the Gherkin,  
a Docklands Light Railway train,  
the Thames Barrier, the London  
Array wind farm, and the  
Millennium Bridge.

Fifty children carried these models 
and manipulated a giant puppet 
engineer as part of the ICE ‘human 
float’ which included teachers, ICE 
ambassadors, staff and members.

ICE London’s float was seen by  
two million viewers on BBC1 and  
was promoted across national  
and local print media.
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Knowledge transfer special focus

Digital knowledge

Digital recording of over 70 national 
and 10 regional events in 2010 means 
members unable to attend can listen to 
recordings at ice.org.uk/recordedlectures
 
In 2010 Library staff prepared all ICE 
conferences for addition to the ICE 
Virtual Library. This now provides  
over 20,000 downloads a month. 
Most Library journals and an  
increasing number of books are  
now available electronically.  
Members all over the world can  
expect a working-day response  
from the Library enquiry service. 

Influencing government policy

ICE’s Policy Panel has developed 
strategic priorities of resilience, low 
carbon and infrastructure value. 
Working closely with Expert Panels, 
Regions and other industry experts, 
the Policy Team provided authoritative 
reports such as the ‘State of the  
Nation: Infrastructure 2010’. 
Using an insider strategy to influence 
government policy, ICE positioned 
itself as a source of knowledge and 
information. Of particular significance 
in 2010 was the work on the first 
National Infrastructure Plan and the 
Treasury’s Infrastructure Cost Review. 

Building capacity

Supporting the development needs  
of members throughout their  
careers is a vital aspect of ICE’s  
knowledge activities. In 2010 ICE’s 
Capacity Building Panel developed 
an online Competency Framework: 
a post-accreditation, self-assessment 
which details the competencies ICE 
believes well-rounded professional 
practitioners should work to develop. 
The Library in particular aims to  
support the knowledge needs of the 
working member and over 1,500 new 
items were added in 2010.

Global networking

ICE organised over 1,100 events  
globally in 2010. These ranged in 
scale from city club events in the 
South West and regional conferences 
in North America, to major  
international events like Innovate to 
Survive. The 2010 Rankine Lecture, 
organised by the British Geotechnical 
Association, attracted an international 
audience of around 750.
ICE formed partnerships with  
AECOM, Halcrow, Scott Wilson  
and Costain to deliver high profile  
lectures and networking. 



ICE Annual Report 2010  23  

Knowledge transfer special focus

Promoting our history

Civil engineers, as the 2010 ‘State  
of the Nation’ report revealed, can  
often find it difficult to locate ‘as 
built’ information on the assets they 
maintain. ICE’s Archives can help 
many in this position as they provide 
unique information on past civil  
engineering projects.

The regionally structured Panel  
for Historical Engineering Works  
published three guides in 2010: 
Wales, East Anglia and the West  
Midlands. Our heritage archives  
are also popular with the public. 

Management Procurement & Law 

ICE advised on the implementation of 
the Construction Sector Transparency  
Initiative pilot in seven countries, 
managing the UK pilot and advising 
the World Bank on CoST  
during their Annual Meetings.

Dispute Resolution 

ICE Dispute Resolution Services 
continued its proactive approach to 
delivering best practice in dispute 
resolution by proposing and setting 
up a panel of Adjudicators specifically 
tailored for the Crossrail Project.

Innovation and research

The Innovation and Research  
Panel produced a report, ‘Engineering 
to live within planetary boundaries: 
civil engineering research needs’,  
on research priorities in 2010.  
 
ICE’s Management Panel oversaw  
the publication of ‘Incorporating  
Principles of Sustainable Development 
within the Design and Delivery  
of Major Projects’, which focused  
on incorporating principles of  
sustainable development.  

Promoting best practice

The Health and Safety Panel produced 
‘The Manual of Health and Safety in 
Construction’, which uses real-life  
situations to provide practical  
references for practising engineers 
and technicians.

ICE’s Management Panel continued 
to develop a strong risk portfolio 
with ongoing updates to the RAMP 
(Risk Analysis and Management for 
Projects) Handbook and continues 
to work on its ERM (Enterprise Risk 
Management) Guide.

Im
ag

e 
Re

dh
ay

es
 B

rid
ge

, d
es

ig
ne

d 
to

 E
ur

oc
od

es
 b

y 
Pa

rs
on

s 
Br

ic
ke

nh
of

f 
fo

r 
D

ev
on

 C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

nc
il



 
ICE’s membership

24  ICE Annual Report 2010

Total members (by location)

0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000 80,000 90,000

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

UK Americas Asia Pacific Europe Middle East & Africa

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

01 Fellow 5,625 5,523 5,436 5,347 5,266

02 Member 40,677 40,426 40,451 40,216 39,923

03 Graduate 15,677 15,821 16,941 17,485 16,598

04 Student 13,771 14,546 16,551 18,220 18,457

05 Technician 496 489 507 525 569

06 Associate 2,521 2,362 2,239 2,106 1,980

07 Other 664 1,286 1,191 1,088 1,013

Total 79,432 80,453 83,316 84,987 83,806

Membership by grade

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

CPRP 2 8 7 9 8

CPR 928 966 975 1,025 1,053

MPR 43 62 87 116 126

TPR 9 20 47 50 82

AMICE 0 1 1 1 1

CEnv 0 2 0 3 2

TRR 24 34 48 50 51

Total 1,006 1,093 1,165 1,254 1,323

  

Applications for review by type

09

2010 stats

83,806
Total members

17,568
International

569
Technicians

5,266
Fellows

66,238
United Kingdom
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2010 stats

17,568
International

5,266
Fellows

66,238
United Kingdom

CPRP

8 
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW CPR

1,053 
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

MPR

126 
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW TPR

82 
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

AMICE

1 
APPLICATION
FOR REVIEW CEnv

2 
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

TRR

51 
APPLICATIONS
FOR REVIEW

INDIA

55 
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

OTHER INTERNATIONAL

40 
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

HONG KONG

273 
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

UNITED KINGDOM

907 
APPLICATIONS

FOR REVIEW 2010

2010 Total
83,806
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2010 Applications by location

2010 Applications by review type

01

02

03

04

06

07 05

(See table opposite, P24)



  Where the money comes from  £’000

 01 Donations  1,039 

 02 Subscriptions  11,417 

 03 Fees etc  2,572 

 04 Trading activities and investment income 15,151 

  Total   30,179   

  

Where the money is spent  £’000

 01 Engineering, policy and innovation  6,517 

 02 Qualification and membership  6,582 

 03 Public voice and member communication  3,365 

 04 Trading activities  12,831 

 05 Governance and investment costs 347 

  Total    29,642  
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Financial review

Overall result    
Against a continuing tough economic background it is satisfying 
to report that a modest operating surplus of £537k was achieved 
in 2010 compared with a deficit of £444k in the previous year.  

Stock markets remained volatile throughout the election period 
but a steady growth in the latter part of the year resulted in an 
investment gain of £1.4m which together with the £2.1m gain in 
2009 means that we have now more than recouped the £2.6m 
losses experienced in 2008.   

A further increase to reserves came from the pension deficit on 
the defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme, which closed to 
new members in 2002, had a deficit of £4.6m at the beginning 
of the year. During the year there was an actuarial gain of £1.2m 
(2009 loss: £0.2m) which, together with the special additional 
contributions made by the Institution, amounted to £1.0m (2009: 
£1.0m), resulted in a reduction of the deficit to £2.2m at the 
year-end. The scheme ceased further service accrual for active 
members from December 2010, with all employees now eligible 
to contribute to a new Group Personal Pension plan.

The sale of our long leasehold interest at Heron Quay in 2009 
resulted in the exceptional surplus of £6.0m for Thomas Telford 
Holdings Ltd, as reported last year. All of the proceeds were 
used to acquire new freehold premises at Storey’s Gate. Vacant 
possession was duly obtained during 2010 and plans have now 
been agreed for a complete refurbishment of the building for 
expected completion at the end of 2011, and occupation early  
in 2012. 

Overall therefore, there was an increase in Funds of £3.1m  
in the year compared with £7.5m in 2009. Total funds now  
carried forward amount to £32.3m of which £26.0m is for 
unrestricted use.

Income and trading     
Total income for the year was £30.2m compared with £35.9m in 
the previous year, a year which exceptionally included the £6.0m 
surplus on the sale at Heron Quay. Subscription income for the 
year amounted to £11.4m which was just £31k more than in 
2009, reflecting a 3% drop in the number of working members 
at 31 December 2010 compared with the year before together 
with an average rate increase of approximately 2%. Fee income at 
£808k was over 9% up on 2009 reflecting the increasing number 
of reviews undertaken.

ICE’s trading operations are largely carried out through Thomas 
Telford Limited (TTL) whose principal activities include the 
publication of books and quality journals, the provision of training, 
the placement of engineers in employment and the provision of 
meeting and hospitality facilities. 

However, ICE also runs a number of conferences and seminars 
directly, primarily to promote civil engineering rather than for 
commercial return.

The net trading result for the year was a surplus of £2.0m (2009: 
£1.7m) and is detailed in Note 1C on page 37. TTL profits held 
up better than expected and in very tough market conditions to 
contribute £1.9m (2008: £1.7m). The whole of the TTL surplus is 
Gift-Aided to the Institution. 

Charitable application  
ICE was therefore able to allocate £16.5m (2009: £16.5m) directly 
to fulfilling its charitable objectives and these, including regional 
operations, are allocated to one of our three main activities. 
Membership qualification activities which accounted for £6.6m 
(2009: £6.3m) and the Learned Society role of nurturing and 
sharing civil engineering knowledge accounted for a further 
£6.5m (2009: £6.5m). Finally the promotion of civil engineering 
to schools, central and local government, members and the 
wider public accounted for the balance of £3.4m (2009: £3.7m). 
Members will be particularly interested in the amounts spent 
regionally, and this is shown in the table in Note 4b on page 39. 

Restricted funds      
Within the Restricted Funds, the Queens Silver Jubilee Scholarship 
Trust (QUEST) enjoyed another successful year. Donations totalled 
£815k, compared with £892k last year. The number of grants 
awarded were 365 compared with 325 in 2009. The average 
grant per recipient was £2.3k (2009: £2.7k). The Research and 
Development Enabling Fund awarded 11 new grants in 2010 
(2009: 8) with an average grant per recipient of £17k (2009:£15k) 
as detailed in note 4C on page 40.

Capital expenditure   
Capital expenditure of £1.0m (2009: £9.1m) was made during 
the year. We continued to invest in the fabric of the building at 
One Great George Street where £361k was spent in preparatory 
works for a major plant replacement in 2011/12. These works 
involved the creation of a new electricity substation to cope not 
just with our increasing needs at One Great George Street but 
also to provide the power for 8 Storey’s Gate in due course. The 
plant replacement will provide for new energy efficient chillers and 
stand-by electricity generation.

Further investments of £394k were made in respect of the 
eventual £5.2m redevelopment works at 8 Storey’s Gate and 
£353k on a large number of IT developments, including the new 
website launched during the year.

Cash and investment policy   
Cash held within the group reduced from £3.5m to £3.1m 
reflecting the capital expenditure during the year. Sufficient  
cash is held on deposit to fund operating activity over the  
coming 12 months and a £4m bank loan facility from HSBC  
has been negotiated to partly fund the future programme  
with the remainder to be financed from existing resources  
and investment sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2010
Financial review
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Financial review

There are no restrictions on the Charity’s power to invest, and 
the investment policy of the Institution is to seek the maximum 
return over the medium term having due regard to risk. In order 
to achieve that, the Trustees have not set restrictions on the 
investments that can be held. Following a review in 2009, Mazars 
were appointed as lead investment manager from January 2010 
and subsequently the portfolio was largely sold and re-invested. 
Investments are allocated to specific funds within agreed asset 
allocation ranges, and their performance regularly reviewed 
against appropriate benchmarks.

The diversification of the investment portfolio again proved a 
successful strategy, providing protection against volatility, but 
ensuring the Institution benefited from the continuing market 
recovery. The investment target set by the panel is for a return of 
4.5% above inflation. In 2010 a return of 10.3% was achieved, 
2.1% above the 8.2% calculated target figure. The market value 
of the Group’s investments was £14.7m at 31 December 2010 
(2009: £13.9m). Gains on revaluation of £1.4m (2009: £2.1m) 
were credited to the Group’s reserves. 

Reserves policy     
ICE maintains reserves to meet unexpected contingencies.  
These contingencies may arise for the following reasons:

 The trading activities of TTL are cyclical and difficult to predict  
 in the medium to long-term. The Institution remains cautious  
 over committing income generated by these activities to  
 long-term commitments.

 Most of the activities of the Institution are of a long-term  
 nature and require continuity of funding. Reserves can be  
 relied on to act as a contingency in the event of income flows  
 being disrupted or unforeseen reasonable expenditure.

 Investment balances are subject to potentially adverse  
 change should market conditions deteriorate.

 Pension liabilities could increase as they are dependant on  
 scheme investment performance and mortality assumptions.

The Finance Committee keeps under review the adequacy of 
reserves. In doing so those reserves held in restricted funds are 
excluded, as were those represented by investment in fixed assets 
and thus not readily available for use. Equally those liabilities 
that fall only in the medium to long-term are set against similarly 
dated assets. The resultant Council policy is to maintain a level 
of reserves in excess of £2m, a figure that reflects possible 
shortfalls in TTL income and subscription income before reduced 
expenditure plans could be brought in. At the end of 2010 
reserves of £7.7m were held.

ICE is also mindful of the necessity of maintaining adequate 
liquidity and therefore maintains a liquidity policy of ensuring  
free cash and investment balances do not fall below £6.0m.  
At 31 December 2010 they stood at £12.4m.

Risk management    
ICE fully accepts the importance of risk management. The  
Audit Committee met regularly throughout the year with terms 
of reference that include keeping under review the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems and reporting thereon 
annually to Council. The five-year business plan continued to be 
used as the basis for maintaining a register of the key risks facing 
the Institution, which in turn enabled a regular cycle of internal 
control reports to be considered.  

Risk management is fully embedded within the Group with 
documented procedures and risk assessments carried out as 
required. All major projects and process improvements are 
managed professionally with extensive use made of recognised 
quality methods.

Members    
The role played by our members who so generously give their time 
to serve the Institution through their input to our many specialist 
boards or committees, both nationally or within our regional 
structure, cannot be overestimated.

It is exceptionally difficult to quantify the number of hours or 
financial equivalence of this activity but a conservative estimate 
has been made which indicates that well in excess of 11,000 
volunteer days, involving over 1,500 members, are freely given 
each year. At £500 per day this contribution can be valued 
at approximately £5.5m. The trustees are grateful for the 
contributions of members and recognise that without their efforts 
there could be no Institution.

Auditor
PKF (UK) LLP offer themselves for reappointment as auditor at  
the Annual General Meeting. 

Approved by the trustees and signed on their behalf on 17 May 
2011 by:

Peter Hansford
President
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Statement of trustees’ responsibilities

The trustees are responsible for preparing the trustees’ annual 
report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Charity law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year that give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and 
application of resources of the charity for the year. In preparing 
those financial statements the trustees are required to:

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
 them consistently 

 Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP

 Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable  
 and prudent

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis  
 unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will  
 continue in business

The trustees are responsible for keeping accounting records 
that are sufficient and proper to show and explain the charity’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 1993 
and the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the financial information included on the charity’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation  
and dissemination of the financial statements and other 
information included in annual reports may differ from  
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Independent auditor’s report to the trustees of ICE 
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Independent auditor’s report

We have audited the group and parent charity financial 
statements (“the financial statements”) of the Institution of Civil 
Engineers for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise 
the group statement of financial activities, the group and charity 
balance sheets, the consolidated cash flow statement, the group 
accounting policies and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).  

This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as a body, in 
accordance with section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and in accordance with 
regulations made under section 44 of the Charities Act 1993.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the charity’s trustees those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity’s 
trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor 
As explained more fully in the statement of trustees’ 
responsibilities, the trustees are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements, which give a true and fair view. We 
have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under 
section 43 of the Charities Act 1993 and report in accordance 
with regulations made under those Acts. Our responsibility is to 
audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the charity’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the trustees; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the Trustee’s Annual Report, 
including the President’s foreword and Director General’s foreword 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications  
for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and parent  
 charity’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of the group’s  
 incoming resources and application of resources for the year  
 then ended;

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United  
 Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

 have been prepared in accordance with the Charities and  
 Trustee Investment Scotland Act 2005, regulation 8 of the  
 Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 and the  
 Charities Act 1993 and regulations made thereunder.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where regulations made under the Charities and Trustee 
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Act 1993 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

 sufficient and proper accounting records have not been kept  
 in respect of the parent charity; or

 the parent charity financial statements do not accord with  
 the accounting records; or

 any information contained in the financial statements is  
 inconsistent in any material respect with the trustees report; or

 any information or explanation to which we are entitled  
 has not been afforded to us.

PKF (UK) LLP
Statutory auditor
London
17 May 2011

Eligible to act as an auditor in terms of  
section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006

ICE Annual Report 2010  31  



 
Principal accounting policies

Principal accounting policies

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
Statement of Recommended Practice 2005 “Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities” and applicable accounting standards. 
The statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the inclusion of investments at market 
value. The principal accounting policies adopted by the charity are 
set out below:

Group financial statements
These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity 
and its wholly-owned trading subsidiaries Thomas Telford 
(Holdings) Limited and Thomas Telford Limited.  

Funds accounting
Unrestricted funds are reserves which have not been designated 
for specific purposes. Restricted reserves are funds which are 
allocated by the donor for specific purposes. Endowment funds 
are assets which must be held permanently by the charity but 
income arising from the assets may be expended.

A description of the funds in existence during the year is included 
in note 15 to the accounts on page 45.

Resources arising – income
The following accounting policies are applied to income:

Donations
Income from donations is included when the conditions for receipt 
have been met and there is a reasonable assurance of receipt. 
When donors specify that donations are for a particular restricted 
purpose which do not amount to preconditions regarding 
entitlement, this income is included in incoming resources of 
restricted funds when receivable.

Member subscriptions
Income from member subscriptions is allocated to the year to 
which it relates, with payments received in advance held as 
deferred income.

Life members’ fees are accounted for as deferred income and 
released over a period of 20 years.

Legacies
Legacies are included when the Institution is advised by the 
personal representative of an estate that payment will be made or 
property transferred and the amount involved can be quantified.

Investment income and interest
Investment income and interest are accounted for when 
receivable.

Trading activities
Turnover arises from publishing, recruitment, catering, room hire 
and training. Turnover is recognised when the event, product 
or service has been delivered and the company has fulfilled its 
contractual obligations, it excludes value added tax and trade 
discounts.

Resources expended
Resources expended are included in the statement of financial 
activities on an accruals basis, inclusive of any VAT which cannot 
be recovered. Expenditure is allocated on the bases indicated 
below.

Charitable activities
Charitable activities are those directly related to the objects of 
the charity and are reflected in these accounts under three main 
headings.  

 Engineering policy and innovation 
 Qualification and membership
 Public voice and member communication

For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Principal accounting policies

Governance costs
Governance costs comprise all costs identified as wholly or 
mainly attributable to ensuring the public accountability of the 
charity and its compliance with regulations. These costs include 
external audit, legal advice for trustees and costs associated with 
constitutional and statutory requirements.

Support costs
Overhead costs include property costs, HR, finance, IT and other 
administrative costs associated with supporting the charitable 
activities. They have been allocated to the cost of charitable 
activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources using 
appropriate measures such as headcount, floor area etc. The  
basis of the cost allocation has been explained in the notes to  
the accounts.

Pension costs
The expected costs of providing pensions under the defined 
benefit pension scheme are calculated periodically by the scheme 
actuary and charged to the statement of financial activities so as 
to spread the cost over the service lives of employees. The costs of 
the defined contribution scheme are charged as incurred.

Taxation
The charity is exempt from corporation tax under current 
legislation.

Leases
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the 
Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis over the 
lease term.

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are included at market value at the 
balance sheet date. Any gain/(loss) on revaluation is credited/
(charged) to the Statement of Financial Activities.

Group investments
Investments in subsidiary companies are included at cost.

Tangible fixed assets
Freehold and long leasehold properties are capitalised at historical 
cost. Capital items having a cost of less than £5k are written off 
in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. No depreciation 
is charged on freehold land or the main structure of the freehold 
building because the trustees consider that the economic life of 
the building and its residual value, excluding inflation, is such 
that depreciation is not significant. The value of the building is 
informally monitored by the trustees on a regular basis in order to 
identify any permanent diminution in value which, if applicable, 
would be charged to the Statement of Financial Activities. 
Depreciation is charged on freehold refurbishment costs to write 
off the cost over the anticipated economic life. 

No depreciation is charged on the assets under construction until 
they are brought into service.

The annual rates of depreciation used to write off the cost of 
tangible fixed assets in equal instalments over their expected 
useful lives are as follows:

Improvements to freehold property 2.5% to 10% per annum
Long leasehold property 2% per annum
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  5% to 33% per annum

Library books, artefacts and archive materials
Due to the practical difficulty of obtaining suitable information, 
no value for items of this nature is included in these financial 
statements.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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   Unrestricted  Restricted  Endowment  Total  Total
  Note  funds  funds funds  2010  2009
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 Incoming resources
 Incoming resources from generated funds

 Voluntary income
 Donations and similar income     20   1,019   -   1,039   1,112  

 Activities for generating funds
 Trading activities  1  14,866   -   -   14,866   15,173  
 Investment income  2  181   104   -   285   130  

 Incoming resources from charitable activities
 Subscriptions and other income  3  13,989   -   -   13,989   13,468  

 Other incoming resources
 Surplus on disposal of fixed assets 9  -   -   -   -   6,038 

 Total incoming resources    29,056   1,123   -   30,179   35,921  

 Resources expended
 Costs of generating funds
 Trading activities  1  12,831   -   -   12,831   13,499  
 Investment management costs     65   30   -   95   32  

     12,896   30   -   12,926   13,531  

 Net income available for charitable purposes     16,160   1,093   -   17,253   22,390  

 Charitable activities
 Engineering policy and innovation  4  6,224   293   -   6,517   6,507  
 Qualification and membership  4  5,775   807   -   6,582   6,325  
 Public voice and member communication  4  3,365  -   -   3,365   3,686 

    15,364   1,100   -   16,464   16,518  
 Governance costs  4  252   -   -   252   278  

 Total resources expended    28,512   1,130   -   29,642   30,327  

 Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before  
 other recognised gains and losses   544  (7)  -   537   5,594  

 Other recognised gains and (losses)
 Net investment gains  10 950 351 56 1,357 2,093
 Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension scheme 16 1,247 - - 1,247 (175)

 Net movement in funds   2,741 344 56 3,141 7,512

 Reconciliation of funds
 Total funds brought forward    23,270   5,203   680   29,153   21,641  

 Total funds carried forward   15   26,011   5,547   736   32,294   29,153  

 All incoming resources and resources expended are derived from continuing actvities.

Consolidated statement of financial activities 
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Balance sheets
at 31 December 2010

     Group Group Charity Charity
    Total Total Total Total
    2010 2009 2010 2009
   Note £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000
 Fixed assets
 Tangible fixed assets    9  21,987   21,967   21,741   21,523 
 Investments  10  14,713   13,872   15,014   14,173 

      36,700   35,839   36,755   35,696  
 Current assets
 Stocks  11  455   415   8   16 
 Debtors   12  2,784   2,130   1,309   727 
 Cash at bank and in hand     3,052   3,468   2,578   3,159 

     6,291   6,013   3,895   3,902 

 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year   13 (8,349) (8,111) (6,024) (5,874)

 Net current liabilities excluding pension liability    (2,058) (2,098) (2,129) (1,972)

 Defined benefit pension scheme liability  16 (2,348) (4,588) (2,348) (4,588)

 Total assets      32,294   29,153   32,278   29,136  

 The funds of the group
 Endowment funds  14/15  736   680   736   680 
 Restricted funds  14/15  5,547   5,203   5,547   5,199 
 Unrestricted income funds  14/15  28,359   27,858   28,343   27,845   
 Pension reserve  14/15 (2,348) (4,588) (2,348) (4,588)

 Total group funds       32,294   29,153   32,278   29,136  

 The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
 The Financial statements on pages 32 to 48 were approved by the trustees on 17 May 2011 and signed on their behalf by:

 
 Peter Hansford  Tom Foulkes  William Kemp
 President  Director General  Chairman of Finance Committee
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     2010   2009
      £’000   £’000
 Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities    (171)  747

 Returns on investments 
 Dividends received     247  85
 Interest received     38  45

      285  130 

 Capital expenditure and financial investments
 Capital expenditure     (1,046)  (9,139)
 Sale of fixed assets     -      8,280 
 Investment purchases    (14,017)  (2,639)
 Investment sale proceeds    14,565  2,475
  Unlisted investment sale proceeds      -     4 
 (Increase)/Decrease in cash on deposit awaiting investment    (32)  152

      (530)  (867) 

 Net cash (outflow)/inflow before management of liquid resources   (416)  10

 Management of liquid resources 
 Decrease in short term deposits    471  268

 Increase in cash    55  278 

 Reconciliation of net incoming resources to net cash inflow from operating activities 
 Net movement in funds for the year before revaluations    537  5,594
 Depreciation    1,026  1,046
 Surplus on sale of fixed assets     -     (6,038)
 Increase in stocks    (40)  (54)
  (Increase)/Decrease in debtors    (654)  1,844   
  Increase/(Decrease) in creditors    238  (778)
 Decrease in pension liability     (993)  (737)
 Investment income    (285)  (130)

     (171)  747 

 Included as liquid resources are portfolios of investments held and managed on behalf of the charity by its 
 investment advisers and term cash deposits of less than one year.
     2009  Cash flow 2010 
      £’000  £’000 £’000
 Analysis of net funds 
 Cash at bank and in hand    3,468 (416) 3,052
 Less cash on short-term deposit    (1,718) 471 (1,247)

 Cash at bank and in hand    1,750 55 1,805 

     2010   2009 
      £’000   £’000 
 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds
 Increase in cash in the period    55  278
 Decrease in liquid resources    (471)  (268)
 Net funds at start of year    3,468  3,458

 Net funds at end of year    3,052  3,468 

Consolidated cash flow statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

 1. Trading activities
 Thomas Telford Limited (TTL), which is incorporated in the United Kingdom, is a wholly-owned trading subsidiary of the charity and contributed £1.9 million  
 of its profits to the charity by Gift Aid. TTL’s principal activities are the publication of Learned Society books and quality journals, the organisation of courses,  
 provision of e-services, provision of meeting facilities and ancillary services, and the placement of engineers in both permanent and temporary positions. 

  Thomas Telford (Holdings) Limited (TTH), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the charity incorporated in the United Kingdom, traded as a property management  
 company but hasn’t traded since the sale of its sole property at Heron Quay in 2009.

 The charity’s trading relates to the supply of conference facilities for the Institution and external bodies. The charity also makes a rental charge to its trading  
 subsidiary for use of part of the freehold premises at One Great George Street.

 1a. Activities for generating funds
 The main classes of business and their contribution to turnover and net incoming resources are:

    Turnover   Turnover  Trading result  Trading result
    2010 2009  2010  2009
    £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

 Publishing   6,283 5,860 1,863 1,500
 Venue hire, catering and training    8,022 8,237 11 159
 Recruitment and provision of temporary staff   2,065 2,654 57 20
 Property management     -    80  -    15
 Conferences and events    1,437 1,605 108 (4)

     17,807 18,436 2,039 1,690
 Less intra-group trading    (2,941) (3,263) (4) (16)

    14,866 15,173 2,035 1,674 

 The geographical markets supplied are as follows:        
 United Kingdom    11,966 13,817
 Rest of the world    2,900 1,356

    14,866 15,173   

 1b. Costs of generating funds
   Direct Regional   Allocated  Total Total 
   costs costs costs  2010  2009
   £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 Trading activities  12,177 397 257 12,831 13,499

   12,177 397 257 12,831 13,499 

 1c. Group trading activities
 A summary of the Group’s trading results is shown below:
   ICE TTL Inter entity  Total Total 
   2010 2010 adj 2010  2009
   £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 Turnover  1,437 16,370 (2,941) 14,866 15,173
 Cost of sales and administrative expenses  (1,329) (14,443)  2,941  (12,831) (13,499)

 Profit on ordinary activities before interest   108  1,927  -    2,035 1,674
 Interest receivable      -    22 (22)  -      -   
 Interest payable      -    (18) 18  -     -     

 Net result   108  1,931 (4)  2,035   1,674 
 Gift Aid   -  (1,931) 1,931  -     - 

 Retained in the subsidiary    -      -     2 

 Retained in the charity  108   1,927   2,035   1,672 

 Included in cost of sales and administrative expenses was £5.8 million (2009: £5.8 million) relating to staff costs.  
 The sum of £1.9 million (2009: £1.7 million) was Gift Aided to the charity by Thomas Telford Limited.  
 No Gift Aid was payable by Thomas Telford (Holdings) for 2010. In the prior year, £6.2 million was Gift Aided to  
 the charity by this company of which £6 million arose from the sale of fixed assets.
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Financial statements

 2. Investment income and interest
    Unrestricted  Restricted  Total Total
    funds funds  2010 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Dividends from investments listed on recognised stock exchanges   145 102 247 85
 Interest receivable   36 2 38 45

     181 104 285 130 

 3. Incoming resources from charitable activities
   Engineering Qualification  Public voice   
   policy and and and member  Total Total
   innovation  membership communication 2010 2009
   £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000
 Annual subscriptions    -  11,417  -  11,417 11,386
 Examination and other training fees   -  808  -  808 738
 Other income  1,091 360 313 1,764 1,344

    1,091 12,585 313 13,989 13,468 

 The geographical analysis of annual subscriptions is as follows:
 United Kingdom     9,372 9,435
 Rest of the World     2,045 1,951

       11,417 11,386 

4. Charitable activities
    Grant    
  Direct Regional funding of Allocated Total Total
  costs direct costs  activities costs 2010 2009
  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000

 Costs after allocation
 Engineering policy and innovation   2,752   965   239   2,561   6,517  6,507
 Qualification and membership  1,720   2,328   807   1,727   6,582  6,325
 Public voice and member communication  1,670   1,135   -   560   3,365  3,686

   6,142 4,428 1,046 4,848 16,464 16,518 

 Governance 170  -   -  82 252 278

   6,312 4,428 1,046 4,930 16,716 16,796 

 4a. Charitable direct costs
   Engineering Qualification  Public voice   
   policy and and and member  Total Total
   innovation  membership communication 2010 2009
   £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000
 Staff costs  1,200 1,143 547 2,890 2,590
 Other direct costs  1,552 577 1,123 3,252 3,345

    2,752 1,720 1,670 6,142 5,935 
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

 4b. Regional costs
 A significant part of ICE’s activities are carried out in the 12 UK Regions and in 148 countries overseas. 
 The costs expended by the UK and overseas regions directly are summarised below:

       Travel and   Other   
    Staff Communi-  meeting  Event  ancillary  Total  Total
    costs cations  costs costs costs 2010  2009
    £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000
   UK regions
   East Midlands 148 15 6 27 21 217 239
   East of England 201 15 8 33 11 268 306
   London 239 21 3 78 36 377 390
   North East 142 11 4 33 14 204 230
   North West 229 22 9 47 13 320 367
   Northern Ireland 159 13 2 45 10 229 253
   Scotland 237 30 17 123 19 426 541
   South East England 345 32 7 70 21 475 516
   South West 192 21 27 45 19 304 346
   Wales  206 23 12 74 18 333 453
   West Midlands 196 4 6 50 11 267 324
   Yorkshire & Humber 162 14 13 34 8 231 233

   Regional support 251 4 20 30 22 327 260

   UK regions 2,707 225 134 689 223 3,978 4,458 

   Overseas branches 
   Grants to overseas branches      350 390
   Overseas support      497 416

         4,825 5,264 

   Included within: 
   Trading costs (note 1)      397 446
   Charitable costs (note 4)      4,428 4,818

         4,825 5,264 

 Number of Number of    Event Other  Total  Contrib/  Contrib/
 members at members at  Subscriptions Fees income income income   region  member
 31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2010 UK regions £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £ 
 3,621 3,571 East Midlands 489 21 18 11 539 322   90 
 5,441 5,364 East of England 807 43 31 - 881 613  114 
 8,198 8,318 London 1,080 256 36 10 1,382 1,005  121 
 2,231 2,219 North East 309 10 18 - 337 133  60 
 6,459 6,327 North West 929 38 37 1 1,005 685  108 
 2,011 2,048 Northern Ireland 248 14 33 8 303 74  36 
 8,297 8,264 Scotland 1,142 54 91 6 1,293 867  105 
 11,341 11,073 South East England 1,705 63 39 22 1,829 1,354  122 
 6,296 6,304 South West 871 37 56 1 965 661  105 
 3,551 3,524 Wales  470 19 80 11 580 247  70 
 4,630 4,505 West Midlands 675 30 72 3 780 513  114 
 4,882 4,721 Yorkshire & Humber 647 32 40 4 723 492  104  
  
  -   -  Regional support  -   -  14 2 16 (311)  

 66,958 66,238 UK regions 9,372 617 565 79 10,633  6,655  100  
 18,029 17,568 Overseas branches 2,045 191  -   83  2,319 1,472  84 

  84,987 83,806  11,417 808 565 162 12,952 8,127  97 

 The contribution per region represents the subscriptions, fees, event and other income collected within each region less direct expenditure within the region.  
 The balance is applied centrally towards the costs of the three charitable purposes, including central services and support costs, and governance.

Financial statements
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 4c. Grant funding of activities
 The number of individuals and organisations who received awards, prizes and scholarships is as follows:  2010 No.   2009 No. 
 Research and Development Enabling Fund - individuals     1 1
 Research and Development Enabling Fund - organisations     10 7
 Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust - individuals     365 325
 Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust - organisations     1 -
 Trust Funds - individual awards and prizes     79 82

       456 415 

 Details of the grants awarded to organisations from the Research and Development     
 Enabling Fund and included in Grant funding of activities in 2010 are as follows:    £’000  
 Pesth-Buda (Budapest) Chain Bridge (1839-1849) Archive Recording  Budapest Museum 9
 Transport Infrastructure Drainage - condition appraisal and remedial treatment  CIRIA   20
 Learning from recent nuclear builds - desk study   Lancaster University 20
 Abandoned Mineworkings Manual   CIRIA   20
 International Levee Handbook   CIRIA   20
 Climate Change Investment in the Infrastructure Sector in the Developing World  Engineers Against Poverty 25
 Removing barriers finance for low carbon infrasturcture: defining for role for a green investment bank Green Alliance  20
 Surface and subsurface settlements due to tunnelling   OTB Engineering Ltd 7
 Documentation of Historical Engineering Works in Scotland   Engineering Timelines 13
 Traffic bridges with fibre-reinforced polymer (FRP) decks   University of Bristol 10

         164  

 Details of the grant awarded to organisations from the Queens Jubilee Scholarship Trust  and included in Grant funding of activities in 2010 is as follows:
 The Quest Committee agreed to fund the development of two projects for use with Student Studio. 
 A suite of web-based projects to be used by 14-17 year old students whilst on work experience.

     Useful Simple Trust  10  

4d. Support costs for allocation    Charity 
   Premises  IT management  Total Total
   costs 2010 costs 2010 costs 2010  2010  2009
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
 Engineering policy and innovation  797   483   1,281   2,561   2,601 
 Qualification and membership  302   420   1,005   1,727   1,511 
 Public voice and member communication  88   140   332   560   638 

    1,187 1,043 2,618 4,848 4,750 

 Governance   -   -  82 82 64
 Trading activities   -   -  272 272 294

    1,187 1,043 2,972 5,202 5,108 

 The methods used to apportion overheads are as follows:     2010  2009
 Charity management costs:     £’000 £’000
 Finance     Headcount  750   717  
 Pension overhead    Employer’s NI   441   326  
 Subscriptions and database    Headcount  -   146  
 HR    Headcount  285   362  
 Office of the Director General    Headcount  866   786  
 Depreciation and repairs    Estimated usage  630   624 

       2,972   2,961 
 Premises costs    Space usage  1,187   966  
 IT costs    Headcount  1,043   1,181  

         5,202   5,108  

 4e. Direct charity governance costs include:     2010 £’000  2009 £’000
 Auditors’ remuneration      23   29  
 Legal and professional fees      -     3 
 Trustee costs      147   182  

        170   214 
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 5. Net incoming resources     Group Group 
      2010  2009
 This is stated after charging:     £’000  £’000
 Depreciation      1,026   1,046  
 Auditors’ remuneration:       
 - Audit services      28  46
 - Under provision to previous Auditors     5   - 
 - Tax services     12  29
 - Tax services over provision to previous Auditors     (18)  - 
 Investment management fees     95 32
 Operating leases     30 66
 Property leases     170 220

  6. Staff costs
 The payroll costs for the year were as follows:     Group Group 
      2010  2009
      £’000  £’000
 Wages and salaries     10,481 10,502
 Social security costs     1,113 1,125
 Other pension costs     985 813
 Temporary staff, recruitment and training     650 757

       13,229 13,197 

 Average number of UK employees (full-time equivalents) of the Group during the year:   Group Group 
      2010  2009
      No.  No.
 Charitable activities     161 170
 Trading activities     118 120
 Governance     2 2

       281 292 

 The number of employees paid by the charity whose emoluments, excluding employer’s pension contributions exceeded £60,000 are analysed as follows:  

      Group  Group 
      2010 2009
 £60,001-£70,000     9 6
 £70,001-£80,000     5 5
 £80,001-£90,000     6 7
 £90,001- £100,000      -  2
 £100,001-£110,000     1 3
 £110,001-£120,000      -  1
 £120,001-£130,000     1 1
 £130,001-£140,000     2 1
 £150,001-£160,000     -  1
 £160,001-£170,000     1  - 

 10 of the above employees (2009:11) had Pension Benefits accruing under the defined benefit scheme. 
 Pension payments in respect of the relevant employees to the defined contribution schemes totalled £110k (2009: £85k)

 7. Trustee remuneration
 None of the trustees receive any remuneration for their services as trustees of the charity.  Details of travel and subsistence expenses reimbursed to or  
 paid on  behalf of Trustees, including overseas Presidential tours and participation in membership and Learned Society activity are summarised below:
    2010 2010  2009  2009
    £’000 No. £’000 No.

 Expenses reimbursed to or paid on behalf of Trustees   200 40 150 42

 The charity retains a leasehold property close to its London headquarters which is available to senior officers of the Institution while staying  
 overnight  in London on charity business. Trustee liability insurance has been purchased by the charity at a cost of £4k. (2009: £4.7k)

 8. Related parties
 The following payments, all of which have been authorised by the Charity Commission have been made to Trustees or parties related to them in respect of  
 services to ICE. (Note 8 continued on following page) 
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 8. Related parties (...continued)
  Trustee Recipient Nature of payment   2010  2009
        £’000  £’000
 P Rennison P Rennison Report for the Best Practice Panel on the implementation 
   of the Construction Design Management Regulations 2007  7   - 
 A MacLennan A MacLennan Training and mentoring support to Scottish candidates  -   3 
 M Qualters  Mrs A Qualters Salary in respect of administrative duties for the South East England, Regional Support Team 15   16 
 J Venables Professsor R Venables Technical editor of Innovation and Research Focus 14 15  

 9. Tangible fixed assets   Assets Long Fixtures
 Group  Freehold in course of leasehold fittings and Total
   Property construction property equipment 2010
   £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 At 1 January 2010  25,076   -     77   5,275   30,428 
 Additions   -     723   -     323   1,046 
 Disposals   -     -     -    (240) (240)

 At 31 December 2010  25,076   723   77   5,358   31,234 

Depreciation 
At 1 January 2010  4,861   -     24   3,576   8,461  
Provided during year   434   -     1   591   1,026  
Eliminated on disposal   -     -     -    (240) (240)

 At 31 December 2010  5,295   -     25   3,927  9,247 

 Net book value at 31 December 2010   19,781   723   52   1,431  21,987 

 Net book value at 31 December 2009  20,215   -     53   1,699  21,967 

 All Group assets are used in support of charitable activities or trading activities.The Institution’s headquarters at One Great George Street is shown at historical  
 cost as there is no likelihood that it will be considered for sale in the foreseeable future and the market price is likely to vary considerably depending on the  
 potential use. The property was independently valued as at 31 January 2011 by BNP Paribas Real Estate, Chartered Surveyors, acting in the capacity of external  
 valuers.  The valuation was in accordance with the requirements of FRS 15 and the RICS Valuation Standards. The valuers reported a total market value of the  
 owner-occupied property of £14.7 million.  The valuer’s opinions were primariliy derived from comparable recent market transactions on arms length terms.
 In 2009 the Institution acquired the freehold of 8 Storey’s Gate to accommodate administrative staff from both Thomas Telford Ltd (TTL) and the Institution 
 itself.  The property is being adapted and refurbished for occupation early in 2012. The long leasehold property at Heron Quay, formerly partially let and partially  
 housing staff from Thomas Telford Ltd, was sold in 2009 with the resultant surplus of £6.0m separately reflected as other incoming resources in the Statement  
 of Financial Activities. An operational short-term lease on a property near Heron Quay has been taken to house TTL staff until Storey’s Gate is ready for  
 occupation. The Institution has a vast collection of books, journals and archive material which it maintains as a learning  asset of international importance. The  
 Institution also has a collection of paintings and artefacts, predominantly related to civil engineering which have been donated or acquired at modest cost over  
 many years.  Most of these are now used to furnish the One Great George Street building and are held as operational assets, with no intention of disposal.
 Due to the practical difficulty of obtaining suitable information, no value for these items has been included in the accounts.

 Tangible fixed assets   Assets Long Fixtures
 Charity  Freehold in course of leasehold fittings and Total
   Property construction property equipment 2010
   £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
 At 1 January 2010  25,076   -     77   4,012   29,165 
 Additions   -     723   -     296   1,019  

 At 31 December 2010   25,076   723   77   4,308   30,184 

 Depreciation       
 At 1 January 2010  4,861   -     24   2,757   7,642 
 Provided during year  434   -     1   366   801 

 At 31 December 2010   5,295   -     25   3,123   8,443 

 Net book value at 31 December 2010  19,781   723   52   1,185   21,741 

 Net book value at 31 December 2009  20,215   -     53   1,255   21,523 
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 10. Fixed asset investments   Group  Group Charity Charity
    2010 2009  2010 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Listed investments   14,711   13,870   14,711   13,870 
 Unlisted investments   2   2   303   303 

      14,713   13,872   15,014   14,173 

 Unlisted investments comprise:    
 Investments at cost in subsidiaries    -   -   1   1 
 Long-term loans in subsidiaries    -   -   300   300 
 Investment in Ceequal Limited   2   2   2   2 

       2   2  303  303 

 Listed investments      Group and Charity 
      2010  2009
       £’000  £’000
 Market value as at 1 January 2010     13,870   11,765 
 Acquisitions at cost     14,017   2,639 
 Sales proceeds     (14,565) (2,475)
 Net movement in cash balances      32  (152)
 Net investment gains     1,357   2,093  

  Listed investments at market value     14,711   13,870  
 Historical cost at 31 December 2010     13,901   12,118 

 Unrealised investment gains      810   1,752 

 An analysis of the market value of quoted    Unrestricted  Restricted Endowment Total 
 investments at 31 December 2010 is as follows:    funds funds funds 2010 
      £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Fixed interest   1,441   457  - 1,898 
 UK equities   3,037   1,471   736   5,244 
 Overseas equities   3,112   986  -  4,098 
 Alternative investments   1,022   323  -  1,345 
 Property   1,014   321  -  1,335 
 Cash funds/cash on deposit awaiting investment   458   333  -  791 

       10,084   3,891   736   14,711 

 Unlisted investments      
 At 31 December 2010, the charity owned the entire issued share capital of 502 ordinary shares of £1 each in Thomas Telford Limited and 52 ordinary shares of  
 £1 each in Thomas Telford (Holdings) Limited.  The trading results are set out in note 1.  At 31 December 2010 the aggregate amount of each company’s assets,  
 liabilities, share capital and reserves was:   
    TTL 2010  TTH 2010 TTL 2009 TTH 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Fixed assets   246   -   444   - 
 Investments    -     2   -     2 
 Current assets   4,288   2   4,108   5 
 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year   (4,218) (2) (4,236) (5)

      316   2   316   2 

 Represented by: 
 Long-term deferred loans    300   -   300   - 
 Share capital and reserves   16   2   16   2 

      316   2   316   2 

 The deferred loan relates to a long-term loan from the charity (Parent Undertaking).  This loan is repayable on one-year’s notice and is secured by debenture  
 over  the assets of the subsidiary.  The interest payable to the charity is calculated quarterly at the daily bank rate ruling during the quarter or 6% whichever is  
 greater. ICE has a 12.45% shareholding in CEEQUAL Limited which was formed to operate an environmental quality assesment and award scheme.  The holding  
 is represented by 31,850 ordinary shares. 31,850 redeeemable cumulative preference shares were redeemed during 2009. Interest of £1,185 was received on  
 redemption. The latest accounts for the year ended 31 October 2010 show the company is trading profitably.
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 11. Stocks
    Group  Group Charity Charity
    2010 2009  2010 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Raw materials and consumables     50   55   -   -    
 Finished goods and goods for resale    405   360   8   16  

        455   415   8   16 

 12. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
    Group  Group Charity Charity
    2010 2009  2010 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Trade debtors   1,732 1,479 603 309
 Other debtors   296 161 180 153
 Prepayments and accrued income   749 490 519 265
 Taxation and social security   7   -   7   - 

     2,784 2,130 1,309 727 

 13. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
    Group  Group Charity Charity
    2010 2009  2010 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Trade creditors   1,322 1,013 488 233
 Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings    -   -  1,895 2,004
 Taxation and social security   294 341 294 341
 Other creditors   907 922 434 413
 Accruals   1,468 1,442 783 612
 Deferred income   4,358 4,393 2,130 2,271

     8,349 8,111 6,024 5,874 

 Deferred income
    Group  Group Charity Charity
    2010 2009  2010 2009
     £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Balance at 1 January 2010   4,393   4,846   2,271   2,022 
 Amount released to incoming resources   (4,393) (4,846) (2,271) (2,022)
 Amount deferred in the year   4,358   4,393   2,130   2,271 

 Balance at 31 December 2010   4,358   4,393   2,130   2,271 

 Deferred income includes membership subscriptions and magazine subscriptions received in advance.

 14. Analysis of Group net assets between funds
   Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total Total
   funds funds funds 2010 2009
   £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000
 Fixed assets       
 Tangible fixed assets  20,678   1,309   -     21,987   21,967 
 Investments  10,086   3,891   736   14,713   13,872 
 Current Assets  5,551   740   -     6,291   6,013 
 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  (7,956) (393)  -    (8,349) (8,111)
 Defined benefit pension scheme liability  (2,348)  -     -    (2,348) (4,588)

 Total net assets   26,011   5,547   736   32,294   29,153 
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 15. Reserves
  Balance at  Incoming  Resources   Balance at
  1 Jan 2010  resources expended  Transfers  Gains 31 Dec 2010
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000
 Unrestricted funds       
 General fund 27,858 29,056 (28,471) (1,034) 950 28,359
 Pension reserve (4,588) - (41) 1,034 1,247 (2,348)

 General fund 23,270 29,056 (28,512)  -  2,197 26,011 

 Restricted funds       
 Capital Fund 1,309  -   -   -   -  1,309
 Research and Development Enabling Fund 226 156 (203)  -   -  179
 Innovation and Research Focus 32  49 (54)  -   -  27
 Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust 3,135 862 (828)  -  311 3,480
 Trust funds 501 56 (45)  -  40 552

  5,203 1,123 (1,130)  -  351 5,547 

 Endowment funds       
 Trust funds 680  -   -   -  56 736

  29,153 30,179 (29,642)  -  2,604 32,294 

 Unrestricted funds       
 The general fund represents that element of the reserves of the charity which have not been designated for any specific purpose.  £25.9 million of these reserves  
 are held by the charity, £16k are retained in Thomas Telford Ltd and £2k are retained in Thomas Telford (Holdings) Limited. 

 Restricted funds       
 The capital fund arose from contributions to the original construction and later refurbishment of the One Great George Street building. 

 The Research and Development Enabling fund was formed to support research and development by engineers and organisations outside the research field,  
 to enable them to obtain funds from other sources. 

 Contributions to Innovation and Research Focus are obtained from various organisations and used to produce a quarterly research newsletter which is 
 distributed to all corporate members.  

 The purpose of the Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust (QUEST) is to award scholarships to students studying civil engineering degrees, travel awards to enable  
 members to participate in voluntary work overseas, or professional development grants to enable members in mid-career to acquire new skills or knowledge. 

 Endowment funds
 The Trust Funds comprise 41 separate funds created by trust deed at various times and their capital is permanent endowment.

 Prizes and awards for achievement in civil engineering are made from the investment income in accordance with the terms of each Trust Fund and accounted  
 for within restricted funds.
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 16. Pension schemes

 Defined benefit pension scheme
 Benefits under the defined benefit pension scheme, which was closed to new members in February 2002, are based on employees’ final remuneration and  
 length of service. The scheme closed to future service accrual on 30 November 2010.

 The pension expense charged to the Statement of Financial Activities makes no allowance for actuarial gains and losses during the year. Actuarial gains and  
 losses are recognised separately in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year they occur.

 The Institution operates a defined benefit scheme in the UK. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 December 2007 and updated to 31 December 2010  
 by an independent qualified actuary. The service cost has been calculated using the Projected Unit Method.

 Components of pension cost     2010  2009
      £’000  £’000
 Current service cost      406   370 
 Interest cost      1,676   1,474 
 Expected return on plan assets     (1,646)  (1,190) 
 Past service cost     -   52  

 Total pension cost recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities    436  706 
 
 Actuarial (gains)/ losses immediately recognised     (1,247)   175 
 
 Cumulative amount of actuarial losses immediately recognised       5,821   7,068 
 
 Amounts recognised in the balance sheet     
 Present value of funded obligation     31,005  29,716 
 Fair value of plan assets     28,656   25,128 

      (2,348)  (4,588) 

 Change in benefit obligation
 Benefit obligation at the beginning of year      29,716   25,782 
 Current service cost     406   370 
 Interest cost     1,676   1,474 
 Plan participants contributions     136   160 
 Past service cost      -   52 
 Actuarial losses     248   2,994 
 Benefits paid     (1,177)  (1,116) 

 Benefit obligation at end of year      31,005   29,716 

 Analysis of defined benefit obligation    
 Plans that are wholly or partly-funded       31,005   29,716 

 Change in plan assets
 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year     25,128   20,632 
 Expected return on plan assets     1,646   1,190 
 Actuarial gains      1,495   2,819 
 Employer contributions     1,428   1,443 
 Member contributions     136   160 
 Benefits paid     (1,177)  (1,116) 

 Fair value of plan assets at end of the year       28,656   25,128 

 Funded status and net amount recognised     (2,348)  (4,588) 

 The actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2010 showed a decrease in the deficit from  £4,588k to £2,348k.
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 Fund assets
 The weighted-average asset allocation at the year-end were as follows:   Asset Plan assets  Plan assets
     category at 2010 at 2009
     Equities 51.9% 70.5%
     Corp Bonds 20.6% 21.7%
     Govt Bonds 6.7% 7.0%
     Property 0.0% 0.6%
     Divesified Growth 20.2% 0.0%
     Cash 0.6% 0.2%

      100.0% 100.0%

 To develop the expected long-term rate of return on asset assumption, the Institution considered the current level of expected returns on risk-free investments  
 (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the  
 expectations of future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop  
 the expected long-term rate of return on assets asumption for the portfolio. This resulted in the selection of the 6.5% assumption for the 2010 expense and  
 6.2% for the 2011 expense.     
      2010  2009
      £’000 £’000

 Actual return on plan assets        3,141   4,009 
 Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at:
 Discount rate     5.4% 5.7%
 Rate of salary increases     5.3% 5.5%
 Rate of price inflation     3.3% 3.5%
 Deferred revaluation (CPI for 2010 year end)     2.8% 3.5%

 Weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension cost for the year:
 Discount rate     5.7% 5.8%
 Expected long-term return on plan assets     6.5% 5.7%
 Rate of salary increases     5.9% 4.9%
 Rate of price inflation     3.5% 2.9%

 Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables to determine benefit obligations:
    2010 2010 2009  2009
    Male Female Male Female
 Member age 65 (current life expectancy)   23.4 26.6 23.3 26.5
 Member age 45 (life expectancy at age 65)   25.3 28.7 25.2 28.6

 If future life expectancy for all members were to increase by a further one year then this would increase the liabilities for FRS17 purposes by about 2.5%. A  
 change in the life expectancy assumption at the year-end balance sheet date also leads to an increase in the following year’s pensions charge to the profit &  
 loss account.

 Five-year history  2010  2009 2008  2007  2006
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
 Benefit obligation at end of year   31,005 29,716  25,782   27,172   27,570  
 Fair value of plan assets at the end of year   28,656 25,128  20,632   24,085   21,559 

 Surplus/(deficit)  (2,348)  (4,588)  (5,150)  (3,087)  (6,011)  

 Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets:      
  Amount   1,495 2,819 (5,625)  328 763
  Percentage of scheme assets  5% 11% -27% 1% 4%

 Experience (gains) and losses on scheme liabilities      
  Amount    -   -  (625)   -   - 
  Percentage of scheme liabilities  0% 0% -2% 0% 0%

 Contributions
 The Institution contributed £1,428k to the scheme in the year to 31 December 2010, including special contributions of £1,034k. The Institution has agreed that  
 these special contributions will increase on each subsequent 1 January by 3.4%.

  In addition, the premiums for insuring death-in-service benefits, administrative and other expenses of the scheme and the Pension Protection Fund levy are  
 payable separately by the Institution.

 (16. Pension schemes continued on following page)
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 Defined contribution pension scheme
 The Group also operated a defined contribution scheme for employees provided by Scottish Life. The pension cost to the Group of this scheme was £218k   
 (2009: £287k). There were no contributions outstanding or prepaid at 31 December 2010.  This scheme closed on 30 September 2010. 

 Group Personal Pension 
 A new GPP was introduced for employees on 1 October 2010 with members of the defined contribution scheme joining on this date and members of the  
 defined benefit scheme joining on 1 December following closure to future accrual of that scheme. The pension cost for this scheme for 2010 was £225k.

 17. Operating lease commitments
 Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for photocopiers and office rental which expire:
 
                       Group and Charity                    Group and Charity  
    2010  2010  2009  2009
      land/   land/
    other buildings  other buildings
    £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000
Within one year    -     122   3   16  
Between one and two years    -     41   -     32 
Between two and five years    30   7   29   172  

     30   170   32   220  

 18. Commitments and contingencies
 There were no contingencies at 31 December 2010 or 31 December 2009.
 Capital commitments by the charity, contracted or authorised at 31 December 2010 were £7.5 million (2009: £nil).

 In December 2010, Council approved a loan for £4.0 million with HSBC Bank plc for the refurbishment of 8 Storey’s Gate. The term of the loan is eleven
  years from the first drawdown and interest will be charged at 2.25% per annum over the Bank’s Sterling Base Rate. The loan will be repaid by monthly
 repayments of £38k inclusive of interest, commencing twelve months after drawing. The loan is secured by a first legal charge on the Institution’s One Great  
 George Street property. No amounts had been drawn on this loan by 31 December 2010.

  
Financial statements
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As a membership organisation, the ultimate ownership of ICE 
lies in the hands of its members. The structure of governance set 
out by the Royal Charter and bylaws ensures the involvement of 
members in the running of the Institution.

The ICE Council is the governing body of the Institution of Civil 
Engineers and comprises the President, Immediate Past President, 
seven Vice Presidents and 34 members representing all grades of 
the membership.

The President is elected annually by Council and is a leading civil 
engineer. He or she represents the ‘public face’ of the profession, 
promoting civil engineering around the world, in particular in 
dealings with governments, decision-makers and the media.

Council currently meets five times a year to discuss strategic 
direction and set ICE policy in matters of education, training, 
qualification and knowledge. Detailed business is delegated to the 
Executive Board, chaired by the Senior Vice President. Financial 
matters are managed by the Finance Committee which is chaired 
by a Vice President and which, through its advisory investment 
panel, oversees the appointment and performance tracking of 
the investment managers. Business risk and audit matters are 
delegated to an Audit Committee which reports directly  
to Council.

The Council and Executive Board are ultimately responsible for 
governing the Institution with specific responsibilities delegated 
to the key standing committees (Membership, Learned Society, 
Regional Affairs and International Policy Committees). The day-to-
day operation is the responsibility of the Director General.

Council members are the trustees of the Institution of Civil 
Engineers and are elected by members worldwide, usually for a 
period of three years. There are regional members for each of 
the 12 UK regions as well as Hong Kong, and there are members 
representing each of ICE’s international areas: Europe, Asia Pacific, 
Middle East and Africa, and the Americas. 

To maintain continuity a third of Council seats come up for 
election each year. All these elected members work closely with 
the Director General and the other ICE directors and employees 
to develop and implement the business plan to ensure that ICE 
fulfils its public benefit role of promoting and disseminating civil 
engineering knowledge and expertise. All Council members are 
members of ICE and, as such, must comply with the ICE Code of 
Professional Conduct.

As part of their induction, new Council members are given the 
Council Governance Handbook. This contains the Royal Charter 
and bylaws, an outline of the role and procedures of the Council 
and the terms of reference of Council, Executive Board and other 
major committees. Trustees are also directed towards guidance 
and information about trusteeship which is available through the 
charity regulatory bodies (Charity Commission and Office of the 
Scottish Charity Regulator). Council members must ensure that 
they fully understand their responsibilities as trustees. Training to 
support them in this is provided.

Issues of particular concern to Graduate and Student members are 
the focus of the Graduate and Students’ Network (GSNet), and 
their chairman attends ICE Council meetings.

Professional conduct matters
The ICE disciplinary process is dealt with by the Professional 
Conduct Panel (PCP) which considers complaints against ICE 
members, and the Disciplinary Board which adjudicates on cases 
referred to it by the PCP. The Disciplinary Board has powers to 
make orders against members found guilty of improper conduct 
which in the most serious cases may be expulsion from  
ICE membership.

Professional Conduct Panel
In 2010, the Professional Conduct Panel considered 25 complaints 
against members regarding their professional conduct. In 13 cases 
the member was able to answer allegations, and the complaint 
was dismissed. In 10 cases the panel found that the member 
appeared to have breached the rules of professional conduct, but 
not seriously enough to be referred to the Disciplinary Board. All 
these members were warned about their conduct. In 2 cases the 
apparent improper conduct was serious enough to be referred to 
the Disciplinary Board.

Disciplinary Board
The Disciplinary Board heard one case in 2010 held over 
from 2009. In this case, the accused member was ‘severely 
reprimanded’ and ordered to pay a £1,000 fine and costs of £500.

Reservoir Safety

Reservoirs Committee
During 2010, the ICE Reservoirs Committee dealt with 62 
applications from civil engineers seeking appointment or 
reappointment to panels of engineers established under the 
Reservoirs Act 1975 for the construction, inspection and 
supervision of large-raised reservoirs in Great Britain. In  
four of these applications, the committee found that the  
applicants concerned were not qualified for appointment.
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Governance and management

The trustees who are serving for the  
2010 - 2011 Council session are:

President:
Peter Hansford

Immediate Past President:
(President November 2009 to November 2010)
Professor Paul Jowitt

Senior Vice President:
Richard Coackley

Vice Presidents:
Professor Barry Clarke
Geoff French
William Kemp MBE
Professor David Balmforth
William Hewlett
Andrew J McNaughton

Members of Council:
Regional representation is shown in brackets
Katherine Abraham
David Anderson
Christopher Burton
David Caiden (Americas)
Adrian Coy (ICE East Midlands)
Neil Dancer (ICE West Midlands)
Richard Dew (ICE Yorkshire and Humber)
Karen Dingley
Hamish Douglas (Europe – non UK)
Robert Dunn
Richard Fish (ICE South West)
Ian Flower OBE
Brian Flynn (ICE East of England)
Sandra Forte-Gill
Robert Freer
Shelley Galvin (Graduate member)
Edmund Gardiner
William Gowdy (ICE Northern Ireland)
Bill Grose
Ruth Hopgood-Oates 
Gillian Kearney
Simon Lander (ICE Wales)
Kenneth Lau (ICE Hong Kong)
Michael Lomas (Middle East and Africa)
Edward McCann
Michael McIlhatton
Denys Morgan OBE
Philip Parker (ICE North West)
Michael Polin (Asia Pacific exc. Hong Kong)
Martin Qualters (ICE South East England)
Andrew Scrimgeour
Anusha Shah
Jennifer Stables (Graduate member)
David Yates (ICE North East)

The following members of Council, 
who served during 2010, retired  
from Council in November 2010:
John Branton 
Colin Caldow 
Louise Hardy
David Hutchison
Angus McAvoy 
Nelson Ogunshakin OBE
Peter Rennison 
Michael Tweedle
Jean Venables CBE

Management team

Tom Foulkes
Director General and Secretary

Andrew Ruffles
Chief Operating Officer 

Mike Chrimes MBE
Director Engineering
Policy and Innovation

David Lloyd-Roach
Director Membership

Brian Murkin 
Director Finance

Sandra Parsons 
Director Human Resources

Chris Gibson 
Managing Director  
Thomas Telford Ltd

Principal office
One Great George Street
Westminster
London
SW1P 3AA

t  +44 (0) 20 7222 7722
f  +44 (0) 20 7222 7500
 ice.org.uk

Registered charity number 210252
Charity registered in Scotland  
number SC038629

Auditors
PKF (UK) LLP
Farringdon Place
20 Farringdon Road
London
EC1M 3AP

Bankers
National Westminster Bank
2a Charing Cross Road
London WC2H 0PD

Solicitors
Bristows
3 Lincoln’s Inn Fields
London WC2A 3AA

Clyde & Co
51 Eastcheap
London EC3M 1JP

Radcliffes Le Brasseur
5 Great College Street
Westminster
London SW1P 3SJ

Investment adviser
Mazars Financial Planning Ltd
Tower Bridge House
St Katharine’s Way
London E1W 1DD
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bfice.org.uk

ice.org.uk

ICE Annual Report 2010  51  



Institution of Civil Engineers
One Great George Street
Westminster
London SW1P 3AA

t +44 (0)20 7222 7722
f +44 (0)20 7222 7500
ice.org.uk

Registered charity number 210252.
Charity registered in Scotland number SC038629.

Design by ICE Marketing May 2011.
Printed on paper made from sustainable resources.

Cover image  
Washington Grasslands, between Little West 12th Street  
and West 13th Street, looking South; The High Line, New York, USA.

Our core values
Underpinning the work of ICE and  
our members are our core values:

 Trust and honesty
 Ethical behaviour and integrity
 High standards
 Quality and professionalism

Our vision
To place engineers at the heart  
of society, delivering sustainable  
development through knowledge,  
skills and professional expertise.

Core purpose
 To develop and qualify professionals  

 engaged in civil engineering
 To exchange knowledge and best  

 practice for the creation of a sustainable  
 natural and built environment

 To promote our contribution  
 to society worldwide


